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Invitation



Invitation to the Annual General Assembly 
Meeting of Tamweel PSC

Dear Shareholder,

The Board of Directors of Tamweel P.S.C are pleased to inform the Company’s Shareholders that 
the annual meeting of the Company’s General Assembly will be held remotely/online at 11:00 am on 
Thursday, 25 March 2021 and in case the quorum for the meeting is not met on that date, then the 
second meeting shall be held on Thursday, 01 April 2021 in the same manner and at the same time to 
discuss the following agenda:

	1	 Review and ratification of the report of the Board of Directors on the Company’s activities and its  
		  financial position during the financial year ended 31/12/ 2020.

	2	 Review and ratification of the Report from the Internal Sharia Supervision Committee for the 
		  financial year ended 31/12/2020.

	3 	 Review and ratification of the Auditors’ Report for the financial year ended 31/12/ 2020.

	4 	 Discussion and approval of the Balance Sheet and the Profit and Loss Statement for the financial 
		  year ended 31/12/ 2020.

	5 	 Absolve the Board of Directors from liability for the financial year ended 31/12/2020.

	6 	 Absolve the Auditors from liability for the financial year ended 31/12/2020.

	7 	 Appointment / Reappointment of members of the Internal Sharia Supervision Committee for the  
		  year 2021. 

	8 	 Appointment / Reappointment of External Auditors for the year 2021 and determine their 
		  remuneration.

	9 	 Electing a new Board of Directors for the period from 2021 to 2024.

	10 	 Consider passing a Special Resolution:

		  a.	 To approve the Board of Directors’ recommendation to amend and restate the Articles of  
			   Association of the Company in the form attached hereto.  Shareholders can further review the  
			   amended and restated Articles of Association on the websites of DIB and DFM.
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		  b.	 Subject to approving (a) above and obtaining the approvals from the relevant regulatory  
			   authorities, who have the right to do all necessary amendments as deems fit. AGM also authorizes  
			   the Board of Directors of the Company or any person so authorized by the Board of Directors  
			   of the Company, to take all the necessary measures to issue the amendment and restatement of  
			   the Company’s Articles of Association.

	11 	 Proposal from the Board of Directors for not distributing the dividends for the financial year 2020.

	12 	 Considering no remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors for the financial year 2020.

Notes:

1.	Shareholders must register/login electronically to be able to participate and vote on agenda items  
	 of the AGM meeting online via the DFM Smart Services app or https://esrv.dfm.ae. For inquiries, 
	 please contact: +97143055555.

2.	An SMS will be sent on the registered mobile number of the shareholders from registry services  
	 of the DFM notifying them about the E-voting starting from 3:00 pm on Wednesday, 24 March  
	 2021 until 8:00 am on the General Assembly Day on Thursday, 25 March 2021. 

3.	The General Meeting will be held at the date and time specified in the invitation in the presence  
	 of the Board of Directors, the External Auditors, Internal Sharia Supervision Committee, share  
	 registrar, vote collector and the meeting rapporteur while the shareholders will be voting online  
	 without personal attendance.

4.	Only the Shareholder registered on Wednesday, 24 March 2021 has the right to attend and vote 
	 in the General Assembly meeting.  

5.	Any shareholder that has the right to attend the General Meeting may delegate any person elected  
	 by such shareholder, other than a Director, under a special written proxy. A proxy of a number of  
	 shareholders shall not hold in this capacity over 5% of the share capital of the company.  
	 Shareholders who are minors or legally incapacitated shall be represented by their legal  
	 representatives.

6.	The shareholders can access and review the financial statements on the website www.dib.ae

7.	The General Assembly Meeting will not be valid if not attended by the quorum (50% of the  
	 company’s capital), and if the quorum is not met in the first meeting, a second meeting shall  
	 take place on Thursday, 01 April 2021 in the same manner and at the same time. 
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Directors’ Report



Board of Directors’ Report

The Board of Directors of Tamweel P.S.C. has pleasure in submitting the consolidated 
statement of financial position of Tamweel P.S.C. and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) 
as of 31 December 2020, and the related consolidated statements of income, cash flows and 
changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Principal activities

The Company is licensed by the UAE Central Bank as a finance company and is primarily 
engaged in Islamic Sharia’a compliant financing and investment activities predominantly in 
the area of residential mortgages.  The activities of the Company are conducted in accordance 
with Islamic Sharia’a, which prohibits usury, and within the provisions of its Articles and 
Memorandum of Association. Additionally, the Company also generates leasing income from 
its investment properties. The Company is a subsidiary of Dubai Islamic Bank PJSC (DIB) 
which holds 92% of the equity of the Company.

Directors

The current Board of Directors consists of:

Abdulla Ali AlHamli					     (Chairman)

Mohammed Saeed AlSharif				    (Vice Chairman)

Obaid Khalifa Al Shamsi				    (Director)

Nasser Abdulla Al Awadhi   				    (Director)

Musabbah Al Qaizi                  			   (Director)

Financial results

The Company has recorded a loss of AED 98 million in 2020 as compared to a net profit 
of AED 190 million in 2019.  The operating income for year 2020 is AED 156 million 
compared to AED 352 million in 2019.  

Islamic financing and investing assets in 2020 decreased to AED 1,588 million compared to 
AED 1,938 million in 2019. Total equity as at 31 December 2020 amounts to AED 2,752 
million (December 2019: 2,865 million).
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On behalf of the Board

------------------------------------------- 
Abdullah Ali Al Hamli	  
Chairman

Financial results - continued

The Company In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company and the UAE 
Commercial Companies Law, the Board of Directors has not proposed any transfer to statutory 
reserve considering the net loss for the year. Further, no transfer is proposed to general reserve 
as the reserve is in excess of 50% of the paid up capital of the Company. In accordance with 
Articles of Association of the Company, this is subject to the approval by the shareholders 
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.  

Proposed dividend

The Board of Directors has proposed not to pay any dividend for year 2020 (2019: Nil), 
which is subject to the approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.

Auditors

Deloitte & Touche (M.E.) were appointed as external auditors of the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2020. Deloitte & Touche (M.E.) is eligible for appointment as auditor 
for 2021.
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Shari’ah Report



Internal Shari’ah Supervision Committee’s Report of Tamweel PJSC
Submitted to the General Assembly for the Financial Year 2020

To: Shareholders of Tamweel

After greetings,

Pursuant to requirements stipulated in the relevant laws, regulations and standards (“the Regulatory Requirements”), 
and the exception provided by the Central Bank of the UAE the Internal Shari’ah Supervision Committee of Dubai 
Islamic Bank PJSC (the parent company of Tamweel) (“ISSC”) supervises the Sharia governance of Tamweel. The 
ISSC presents to you the ISSC’s Annual Report for the financial year ending on 31 December 2020 (“Financial Year”).

	1 	 Responsibility of the ISSC

		  In accordance with the Regulatory Requirements and the ISSC’s charter, the ISSC’s responsibility is  
		  stipulated as to: 

		  a.	 undertake Shari’ah supervision of all businesses, activities, products, services, contracts, documents and  
			   business charters of Tamweel; and Tamweel’s policies, accounting standards, operations and activities in  
			   general (to the extent of what was presented to the ISSC), memorandum of association, charter, financial  
			   statements, allocation of expenditures and costs, and distribution of profits  between holders of investment  
			   accounts and shareholders (“Bank’s Activities”) and issue Shari’ah resolutions in this regard, and 

		  b.	 determine Shari’ah parameters necessary for Tamweel’s Activities, and Tamweel’s compliance with Islamic  
			   Shari’ah within the framework of the rules, principles, and standards set by the Higher Shari’ah Authority  
			   (“HSA”) to ascertain compliance of Tamweel with Islamic Shari’ah. 

		  The senior management is responsible for compliance of Tamweel with Islamic Shari’ah in accordance 
		  with the HSA’s resolutions, fatwas, and opinions, and the ISSC’s resolutions within the framework of the rules,  
		  principles, and standards set by the HSA (“Compliance with Islamic Shari’ah”) in all Bank’s Activities, and the  
		  Board bears the ultimate responsibility in this regard.

	2 	 Shari’ah Standards

		  In accordance with the HSA’s resolution (No. 18/3/2018), and with effect from 01/09/2018, the ISSC has, to  
		  the best of its judgment, abided by the Shari’ah standards issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organization for  
		  Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) as minimum Shari’ah requirements, in all fatwas, approvals, endorsements  
		  and recommendations, relating to Tamweel’s Activities.

	3 	 Duties Fulfilled by the ISSC During the Financial Year     

		  The ISSC conducted Shari’ah supervision of Tamweel’s Activities by reviewing those Activities, and monitoring  
		  them through the internal Shari’ah Control Department and Internal Shari’ah Audit Department of Dubai Islamic  
		  Bank PJSC (the parent company), in accordance with the ISSC’s authorities and responsibilities, and pursuant to  
		  the Regulatory Requirements in this regard. The ISSC’s activities included the following:

		  a.	 Convening (18) meetings during the year.  

		  b.	 Issuing fatwas, resolutions and opinions on matters presented to the ISSC in relation to Tamweel’s Activities. 

		  c.	 Monitoring compliance of policies, procedures, accounting standards, product structures, contracts,  
			   documentation, business charters, and other documentation submitted by Tamweel to the ISSC for approval.

		  d.	 Ascertaining the level of compliance of allocation of expenditures and costs, and distribution of profits  
			   between investment accounts holders and shareholders with parameters set by the ISSC.

		  e.	 Supervision through the Internal Shari’ah Control Department and the Internal Shari’ah Audit Department of  
			   Dubai Islamic Bank PJSC (the parent company) of Tamweel’s Activities including supervision of executed  
			   transactions and adopted procedures on the basis of samples selected from executed transactions, and  
			   reviewing reports submitted in this regard.

		  f.	 Providing guidance to relevant parties in Tamweel – to rectify (where possible) incidents cited in the reports  
			   prepared by internal Shari’ah Control Department and Internal Shari’ah Audit Department – and issuing of  
			   resolutions to set aside revenue derived from transactions in which non-compliances were identified for such  
			   revenue to be disposed towards charitable purposes.
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		  g.	 Approving corrective and preventive measures related to identified incidents to preclude their reoccurrence in  
			   the future. 

		  h.	 The ISSC has reviewed and approved the Zakat calculation for Tamweel, in accordance with AAOIFI  
			   standards, and the Zakat calculation for the shareholders’ retained funds, in accordance with the Articles of  
			   association and has notified Tamweel to act as needed. 

		  i.	 TamweelCommunicating with the Board and its subcommittees, and the senior management of Tamweel  
			   (as needed) concerning Tamweel’s compliance with Islamic Shari’ah.

		  The ISSC sought to obtain all information and interpretations deemed necessary in order to reach a reasonable  
		  degree of certainty that Tamweel is compliant with Islamic Shari’ah.          

	4 	 Independence of the ISSC

		  The ISSC acknowledges that it has carried out all of its duties independently and with the support and cooperation  
		  of the senior management and the Board of Tamweel. The ISSC received the required assistance to access all  
		  documents and data, and to discuss all amendments and Shari’ah requirements. 

	5 	 The ISSC’s Opinion on the Shari’ah Compliance Status of Tamweel 

		  Premised on information and explanations that were provided to us with the aim of ascertaining compliance  
		  with Islamic Shari’ah, the ISSC has concluded with a reasonable level of confidence, that Tamweel’s Activities are  
		  in compliance with Islamic Shari’ah, except for the incidents of non-compliance observed, as highlighted in the  
		  relevant reports. The ISSC also provided directions to take appropriate measure in this regard.   

		  The ISSC formed its opinion, as outlined above, exclusively on the basis of information perused by the ISSC  
		  during the financial year, to the extent of matters presented before the ISSC, obtained data, audited matters,  
		  observations made and response of Tamweel to implementation of these observations.

Signatures of members of the Internal Shari’ah Supervision Committee - Tamweel

Dr. Mohamed Ali Ibrahim ElGari BinEid 	 Chairman	 ____________________

Dr. Mohammad AbdulRahim Sultan Al Olama	 Member	 ____________________

Dr. Ibrahim Ali Abdalla Hamad AlMansoori	 Member	 ____________________

Dr. Mohamed Akram Bin Laldin	 Member	 ____________________

Dr. Muhammad Qaseem Muhammad Ismail	 Executive Member	 ____________________
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Zakat Notice



Calculation of Zakat payable on your shares is as follows:

1	 The Zakat due on shares, purchased for the purpose of trading (i.e. for selling them when 
their prices increase), is:

Zakat pool per share	  = 	 the market value of the share (in addition to) distributed  
			   dividend, if applicable.

Zakat per share	  =	 Zakat pool per share x 2.5775*

Total Zakat due on your shares 	 =	 number of shares x (Zakat per share – 4.794 Fils**)

2 	 Zakat payable against shareholder’s shares purchased for the purpose of benefiting from its 
annual return and not for the purpose of trading, is 2.349 Fils per share***.

Zakat due on Tamweel Shares for the Year 2020

*	 Amount of Zakat for Hijri year is 2.5% and for Gregorian year is 2.5775%

** 	 (4.794 Fils) Represents portion of a share’s Zakat which is paid by Tamweel in respect of the shareholders’ funds retained 
with Tamweel, therefore it should be deducted from the Zakat per share payable by a shareholder.

***	 (2.349 Fils) represents the balance in a share’s zakat calculated by Tamweel (being 7.143 Fils) after deducting 4.794 Fils 
already paid by Tamweel in respect of shareholders’ funds retained with Tamweel.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To The Shareholders 
Tamweel P.S.C.
Dubai 
United Arab Emirates

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Tamweel P.S.C (the “Company”) and its subsidiary 
(the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements 
including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the other ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the Group’s financial statements in the United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Board of Directors’ report 
which we obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ report and the Internal Sharia Supervisory Committee’s report which 
is expected to be made available to us after that date. The other information does not include the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance or conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the remaining information of the annual report of the Group, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with IFRSs and their preparation in compliance with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA’s, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,  
	 design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risk, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate  
	 to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher  
	 than the one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omission, misrepresentations,  
	 or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate  
	 in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal controls.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related  
	 disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the  
	 audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant  
	 doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are  
	 required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such  
	 disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to  
	 the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as  
	 a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and  
	 whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair  
	 presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities  
	 within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,  
	 supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report the following:

•	 We have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;

•	 The financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the applicable provisions of  
	 the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015; 

•	 The Company has maintained proper books of account;

•	 The financial information included in the Directors’ report is consistent with the Company’s books of account;

•	 Note 8 to the financial statements of the Company discloses its investments in shares during the financial year ended  
	 31 December 2020;

•	 Note 27 to the financial statements of the Company discloses material related party transactions, the terms under  
	 which they were conducted and principles of managing conflict of interests;

•	 Based on the information that has been made available to us nothing has come to our attention which causes us to  
	 believe that the Company has contravened during the financial year ended 31 December 2020 any of the applicable  
	 provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 or of its Articles of Association which would materially affect  
	 its activities or its financial position as at 31 December 2020; and

•	 Note 12 to the financial statements discloses social contributions made during the financial year ended 31 December  
	 2020.

Further, as required by Article (114) of the Decretal Federal Law No. (14) of 2018, we report that we have obtained all the 
information and explanations we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit.

Deloitte & Touche (M.E)

Musa Ramahi 
Registration No: 872
22 February 2021
Dubai
United Arab Emirates
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Consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2019 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

__________________________________  _____________________________ 
Varun Sood 

Acting Chief Executive Officer 
 Abdullah Ali Al Hamli 

Chairman 
   

 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 9 to 48 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
  

    
  2019 2018 
 Note

s 
AED’000 AED’000 

    
ASSETS    

Bank balances and cash 6 151,724 119,637 
Islamic financing and investing assets, net 7 1,937,855 2,436,090 
Other investments carried at FVTOCI 8 65,911 59,810 
Investment properties 9 879,503 849,539 
Advances, prepayments and other receivables 10 74,020 47,596 
Property and equipment 11 11,260 12,329 
  ––––––––– ––––––––– 
Total assets  3,120,273 3,525,001 
  ======== ======== 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    

LIABILITIES    

Zakat payable 12 3,878 3,478 
Accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities 13 66,781 59,188 
Islamic financing obligations 14 185,000 790,000 
  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
Total liabilities  255,659 852,666 
  –––––––––– –––––––––– 
EQUITY     

Share capital 15 1,000,000 1,000,000 
Statutory reserve 16 279,039 260,033 
General reserve 17 538,980 538,980 
Special reserve 18 102,951 102,951 
Investment fair value reserve  37,950 31,849 
Retained earnings   905,694 738,522 
  ––––––––– –––––––––– 
Total equity  2,864,614 2,672,335 
  ––––––––– ––––––––– 
Total liabilities and equity  3,120,273 3,525,001 
  ========= ========= 

Tamweel P.S.C.  
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 
 
 
 

 
 

Note 
 2020 

AED’000 
2019 

AED’000 
    
    
NET INCOME 
 

   

Income from Islamic financing and investing assets 19 99,461 135,815 
    
Other income                                         20 58,936 242,590 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
Total income  158,397 378,405 
    
Less: depositors’share of profit and related costs  (2,391) (26,084) 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
Net income  156,006 352,321 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
    
OPERATING EXPENSES    
    
Personnel expenses  (50,920) (55,487) 
    
General and administrative expenses  (22,085) (18,271) 
    
Depreciation of investment properties 9 (17,697) (16,076) 
    
Depreciation of property and equipment 11 (880) (1,069) 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
Total operating expenses  (91,582) (90,903) 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
Net operating income before impairment charges  64,424 261,418 
    
Impairment charges, net 21 (162,116) (71,362) 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
(Loss) / profit for the year  (97,692) 190,056 
  ======= ======= 
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 9 to 47 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 
 
 
 

 
 

Note 
 2020 

AED’000 
2019 

AED’000 
    
    
NET INCOME 
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Depreciation of property and equipment 11 (880) (1,069) 
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  ----------------- ----------------- 
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Impairment charges, net 21 (162,116) (71,362) 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
(Loss) / profit for the year  (97,692) 190,056 
  ======= ======= 
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 9 to 47 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 
 
   
 
 

 2020 
AED’000 

2019 
AED’000 

   
(Loss) / profit for the year (97,692) 190,056 
   
Other comprehensive income / (loss) items   
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently  
  to profit or loss: 

  
Fair value (loss) / gain on other investments  
  carried at FVTOCI  (10,766) 6,101 
 ----------------- ----------------- 
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year (108,458) 196,157 
 ======= ======= 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 9 to 47 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 
 
 
 

 
 

Note 
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AED’000 
2019 

AED’000 
    
    
NET INCOME 
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  ----------------- ----------------- 
Total income  158,397 378,405 
    
Less: depositors’share of profit and related costs  (2,391) (26,084) 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
Net income  156,006 352,321 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
    
OPERATING EXPENSES    
    
Personnel expenses  (50,920) (55,487) 
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Depreciation of investment properties 9 (17,697) (16,076) 
    
Depreciation of property and equipment 11 (880) (1,069) 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
Total operating expenses  (91,582) (90,903) 
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The notes on pages 9 to 47 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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 2020 
AED’000 

 2019 
AED’000 

Operating activities   
(Loss) / profit for the year (97,692) 190,056 
Adjustments for:   
  Depreciation of property and equipment 880 1,069 
  Depreciation of investment properties 17,697 16,076 
  Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 1,875 2,702 
  Depositors’/investors’ share of profit and related cost 2,391 26,084 
  Income on mudaraba deposits and wakala investments (858) (866) 

Dividend income (4,187) (4,187) 
Impairment charge for the year, net 162,116 71,362 

  Gain on disposal of property and equipment (6,229) - 
 ------------------ ------------------ 
Operating cash flows before changes in operating  
  assets and liabilities 

75,993 302,296 

   
Decrease in Islamic financing and investing assets, net 224,034 380,832 
Increase in advances, prepayments and other receivables (14,588) (26,878) 
Decrease in Islamic financing obligation (185,000) (605,000) 
Increase in accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities 11,735 6,420 
 ------------------ ------------------ 
Cash generated from operations 112,174 662,670 
Employees’ end of service benefits paid (1,999) (1,457) 
Zakat paid (3,878) (3,478) 
Depositors’/investors’ share of profit and related cost paid (2,842) (26,156) 
 ------------------ ------------------ 
Net cash generated from operating activities 103,455 631,579 
 ------------------ ------------------ 
Investing activities   
Dividend income 4,187 4,187 
Income received on mudaraba deposits and wakala investments 960 1,321 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 8,319 - 
 ------------------ ------------------ 
Net cash generated from investing activities 13,466 5,508 
 ------------------ ------------------ 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 116,921 32,087 
   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 85,610 53,523 
 ------------------ ------------------ 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (note 6) 202,531 85,610 
 ======== ======== 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 9 to 47 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Tamweel P.S.C.  
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 
 
 
 

 
 

Note 
 2020 

AED’000 
2019 

AED’000 
    
    
NET INCOME 
 

   

Income from Islamic financing and investing assets 19 99,461 135,815 
    
Other income                                         20 58,936 242,590 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
Total income  158,397 378,405 
    
Less: depositors’share of profit and related costs  (2,391) (26,084) 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
Net income  156,006 352,321 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
    
OPERATING EXPENSES    
    
Personnel expenses  (50,920) (55,487) 
    
General and administrative expenses  (22,085) (18,271) 
    
Depreciation of investment properties 9 (17,697) (16,076) 
    
Depreciation of property and equipment 11 (880) (1,069) 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
Total operating expenses  (91,582) (90,903) 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
Net operating income before impairment charges  64,424 261,418 
    
Impairment charges, net 21 (162,116) (71,362) 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
(Loss) / profit for the year  (97,692) 190,056 
  ======= ======= 
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 9 to 47 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. General information

Tamweel P.S.C. (the “Company”) was registered on 3 June 2006 as a Public Joint Stock Company and 
converted from Public to Private Joint Stock Company with effect from 27 August 2014. The parent and 
ultimate holding Company is Dubai Islamic Bank P.J.S.C. (“DIB” or the “Parent Company”). The share 
capital of the Company comprises 1,000,000,000 shares of AED 1 each.   

The Company is licensed by the U.A.E. Central Bank as a finance company and is primarily engaged in 
Sharia compliant financing and investment activities such as Ijara, Murabaha, Istisna’a etc.  The activities 
of the Company and its subsidiary (together the “Group”) are conducted in accordance with Sharia, which 
prohibits usury, and within the provisions of its Articles and Memorandum of Association. The Group also 
generates leasing income from its investment properties.  

The registered head office of the Group is located in Business Village, B Block, Port Saeed Area, Deira, 
Emirate of Dubai, U.A.E. 

The Group consists of Tamweel P.S.C. and its subsidiary registered up to 31 December 2020, as listed 
below: 

Subsidiaries 
Beneficial 
ownership Principal activity

Country of 
incorporation

Tamweel ESOT Limited 100% SPE for investment in shares British Virgin Islands

In April 2015, DIB made an offer to the holders of non-controlling interest of Tamweel to acquire their 
shares. DIB acquired further 5.53% shares thereby increasing its ownership to 92%. Tamweel has since 
been operating on a run off basis and not writing any new business in accordance with guidance from 
CBUAE. 

2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

2.1 New and revised IFRSs applied on the consolidated financial statements

The following new and revised IFRS, which became effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2020, have been adopted in these financial statements. The application of these revised IFRS 
has not had any material impact on the amounts reported for the current and prior years but may affect the 
accounting for future transactions or arrangements. 

 Amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations relating to definition of a business.
 Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes

in Accounting Estimates and Errors relating to definition of material. 
 Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases relating to COVID-19 related rent concessions.

9
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2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
(continued) 

 
2.2  New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective 
 
The Group has not early adopted the following new and revised standards that have been issued but are 
not yet effective. The management is in the process of assessing the impact of the new requirements. 
 
 
 
New and revised IFRS 

Effective for  
annual periods  
beginning on or after 

  
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 relating to 
phase 2 of profit rate benchmark reforms 

1 January 2021 

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment relating to proceeds 
before intended use.  

1 January 2022 

Amendment to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets relating to onerous contracts. 

1 January 2022 

Annual improvements to IFRS standards 2018 – 2020. 1 January 2022 

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements relating to 
classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current. 

1 January 2023 

Amendment to IFRS 17 Insurance contracts. 1 January 2023 

Amendment to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures relating to treatment of sale or 
contribution of assets from investors 

Effective date deferred 
indefinitely 

Management anticipates that these new standards, interpretations and amendments will be adopted in the 
Group’s financial statements for the period of initial application and adoption of these new standards, 
interpretations and amendments may have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group in 
the period of initial application. 
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3. Definitions of significant terms 
 

The following terms are used in these consolidated financial statements with the meaning specified 
hereunder: 
 
Sharia 
 

Sharia is the body of Islamic law and is essentially derived from The Quran, Sunna’h, Ijma’a and Qiyas. 
The Group, being an Islamic Financial Institution, incorporates the principles of Sharia in its activities, as 
set out in the Sharia Standards issued by Accounting & Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial 
Institutions (AAOIFI), Internal Sharia Supervision Committee and Higher Sharia Authority of UAECB. 
 
Ijara 
 

Ijara (Ijara Muntahia Bittamleek) is an agreement whereby the Group (in its capacity as a lessor,) leases an 
asset to the customer (as lessee), after acquiring the specified asset according to the customer’s request, 
against certain rental payments for specified lease term. The duration of the lease term, as well as the basis 
for rental, are set and agreed in advance. The Group retains ownership of the asset throughout the 
arrangement. The arrangement could end by transferring the ownership of the asset to the lessee pursuant 
to the sale of the asset to the lessee by executing an independent sale agreement for this reason.  
 
Istisna’a 
 

Istisna’a is a sale contract whereby the Group undertakes to manufacture or construct for the customer, a 
specific asset or property according to certain agreed upon specifications at a pre-determined price and for 
a fixed date of delivery. The work undertaken is not restricted to be accomplished by the Group alone and 
the whole or part of the construction can be undertaken by third parties under the Group’s control and 
responsibility to deliver the asset or property on the agreed upon time. 
 
Murabaha 
 

Murabaha is an agreement whereby the Group sells and asset to a customer that is acquired principally 
based on a promise received from the customer to buy the relevant asset according to the relevant specific 
terms and conditions. While selling, the Group expressly discloses the costs incurred on the asset that are 
sold and the profit thereon, to the customer. 
 
Forward Ijara 
 

Forward Ijara (Ijara Mausoofa Fiz Zimma) is an arrangement whereby the Group agrees to provide, on a 
specified future date, certain described property on lease to the customer upon its completion and delivery 
by the developer, from whom the Group has purchased the property. The lease rental under Forward Ijara 
commences only upon the customer having received possession of the property from the Group. The 
arrangement could end by transferring the ownership of the asset to the lessee pursuant to the sale of the 
asset to the lessee by executing an independent sale agreement for this reason. 
 
Mudaraba 
 

A contract between two parties whereby one party is a fund provider (the “Rab Al Mal”) who would provide 
a certain amount of funds (the “Mudaraba Capital”), to the other party (the “Mudarib”).  Mudarib would 
then invest the Mudaraba Capital in a specific enterprise or activity deploying its experience and expertise 
for a specific pre-agreed share in the resultant profit, if any.   
 
Wakala 
  

An agreement whereby the Group provides a certain sum of money to an investment agent, who invests it 
according to specific conditions in return for a certain fee (a lump sum of money or percentage of the 
amount invested). The agent may be granted any excess over and above a certain pre-agreed rate of return 
as a performance incentive. The agent is obliged to return the invested amount in case of default, negligence 
or violation of the terms and conditions of the Wakala. 
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Sukuk 
 

Sukuk is the plural of “Suk” and the term is defined as "investment certificates of equal denomination 
representing undivided ownership interests in a portfolio of eligible assets. Sukuk commonly refers to the 
Islamic alternative of bonds.  Contrary to conventional bonds, which merely confer ownership of a debt, 
Sukuk represents ownership of the underlying assets by the holder with all the rights and obligations of 
ownership. 
 
4. Significant accounting policies  
 
4.1     Statement of compliance 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 
applicable requirements of the laws of the U.A.E., including the UAE Federal Law No 2 of 2015 ("UAE 
Companies Law of 2015"), as amended by the Federal Decretal Law No. 26 of 2020 issued on 27 
September 2020, for certain provisions which will take effect on 02 January 2021and the Decretal Federal 
Law No. (14) of 2018. 
 
4.2 Basis of preparation 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for other 
investments at FVTOCI, which are measured at fair value.  
 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Arab Emirates Dirham (AED) which is also the 
functional currency of the Group and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands dirham, except when 
otherwise indicated. 
 
The principal accounting policies are set out below. 
 
4.3 Basis of consolidation 
 
These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Group and entities 
controlled by the Group. Control is achieved where the Group has: 
 
 power over an investee,  

 exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and  

 the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. 
 
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 
 
When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not 
the Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including: 
 
 the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the 

other vote holders; 
 potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders and other parties; 
 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 
 any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current 

ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting 
patterns and previous shareholders’ meetings.  

12



Tamweel P.S.C.   
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2020  
 

13 
 
 

 
4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.3 Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the financial period are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the 
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 
 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributable to the owners of the 
Parent and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance. 
 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. 
 

All intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 
 
4.4 Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: 
 
Ijara income 
 
Ijara income is recognised on an effective variable rent element basis over the lease term based on the fixed 
rental amount outstanding.   
 
Murabaha income 
 
Murabaha income is recognised on an effective profit rate basis over the period of the contract based on the 
net Murabaha amount outstanding.   
 
Istisna’a income 
 
Istisna’a associated profit margin (difference between the cash price of al-masnoo to the customer and the 
Group’s total Istisna’a cost) is accounted for on an effective profit rate basis over the construction period. 
 
Forward Ijara income 
 
Forward Ijara income during the construction period of the properties is accounted for on an effective 
variable rent element basis over the construction period on account of rentals. Upon completion of the 
properties, income is recognised on an effective variable rent element basis over the period of the contract 
based on the fixed rental amount outstanding.  
 
Processing fees  
 
Processing fees are recognised when the related services are provided. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.4 Revenue recognition (continued) 
 
Other income  
 
Income earned on mudaraba deposits and wakala investments is recognised on an effective profit rate basis. 
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the income is established. 
 
4.5 Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when a Group’s entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 
4.5.1 Financial assets 
 
All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on the trade date where the purchase or sale of a 
financial asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe 
established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset, except for those financial assets measured 
subsequently at fair value through profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value. 
 
All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair 
value. 
 
Classification of financial assets 
 
An instrument is classified as an ‘equity instrument’ if it is a non-derivative and meets the definition of 
‘equity’ for the issuer except for certain non-derivative puttable instruments presented as equity by the 
issuer. All other non-derivative financial assets are classified as ‘financial instruments’. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.5 Financial instruments (continued) 
 
4.5.1 Financial assets (continued) 
 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
 
The Group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost include Bank balances and cash, Islamic financing 
and investing assets and advances and other receivables. Financial assets (other than equity instruments) 
are measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 
 
 the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows; and 
 the contractual terms of the instrument give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and profit on the principal amount outstanding.  
 

Financial assets (other than equity instruments) meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value 
plus transaction costs (except if they are designated as at fair value through profit or loss - FVTPL). They 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective profit method less any impairment, with 
profit revenue recognised on an effective profit method in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group is required to reclassify financial instruments from amortised 
cost to FVTPL if the objective of the business model changes so that the amortised cost criteria is no longer 
met. 
 
The Group may irrevocably elect at initial recognition to classify a financial instrument that meets the 
amortised cost criteria above as FVTPL if that designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch had the financial asset been measured at amortised cost. 
 
Business model assessment 
 
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio 
level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. 
The information considered includes: 
 
 how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group's management; 
 the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that 

business model) and how those risks are managed;  
 how managers of the business are compensated - e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value 

of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and  
 The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Group’s assessment.  
 
The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking ‘worst case’ or 
‘stress case’ scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realized in a way that is different 
from the Group’s original expectations, the Group does not change the classification of the remaining 
financial assets held in that business model, but incorporates such information when assessing newly 
originated or newly purchases financial assets going forward.   
 
Financial assets that are held for sale or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis 
are measured at FVTOCI because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to 
collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.5 Financial instruments (continued) 
 
4.5.1 Financial assets (continued) 
 
Cash flow characteristics assessment 
 
The contractual cash flow characteristics assessment involves assessing the contractual features of an 
instrument to determine if they give rise to cash flows that are consistent with a basic financing arrangement. 
Contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic financing arrangement if they represent cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and profit on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
For the purposes of this assessment, 'principal' is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial 
recognition. 'Profit' is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated 
with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic financing risks 
and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as profit rate margin. 
 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and profit, the Group 
considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains 
a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not 
meet this condition. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 
 
At initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) 
to designate investments in sharia compliant equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is 
not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading. 
 
A financial asset is held for trading if: 
 
 it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or 
 on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 

together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or  
 it is an Islamic derivative that is not designated and effective as an Islamic hedging instrument or a 

financial guarantee. 
 
Investments in sharia compliant equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes 
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cumulative changes in fair 
value reserve, within equity. Where the asset is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
accumulated is not transferred to the consolidated statement of profit or loss, but is reclassified to retained 
earnings. 
 
Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividend is established, unless the dividends clearly represent 
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.  
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4.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.5 Financial instruments (continued) 
 
4.5.1 Financial assets (continued) 
 
Effective profit method 
 
The effective profit method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of 
allocating profit income over the relevant period. The effective profit rate is the rate that is used to calculate 
the present value of  estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period. 
 
Income is recognised on an effective profit rate basis for financial instruments other than those financial 
assets designated as at FVTPL. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, bank 
balances, and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. 
 
Islamic financing and investing assets 
 
Islamic financing and investing assets include outstanding Ijara fixed rentals, Murabaha sales receivables 
net of deferred profits, Istisna’a costs incurred to date measured at cash equivalent value and forward Ijara 
at costs incurred to date. Also included in the Islamic financing and investing assets are Ijara and Forward 
Ijara variable rental (profit) accruals in addition to Istisna’a and Murabaha amortised profits. These assets 
are stated at amortised cost net of provisions for impairment and profit suspension, if any. 
 
Derecognition of financial assets 
 
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the 
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised financing for the proceeds received.  
 
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss. 
 
On derecognition of a financial asset that is classified as FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve in equity is not reclassified to the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings within equity.  
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4.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.5 Financial instruments (continued) 
 
4.5.2 Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
 
Classification as liability or equity  
 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs. 
 
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when they are approved 
by the Group’s shareholders. Dividends for the year that are approved after the reporting date are disclosed 
as an event after the reporting date. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective profit rate method. 
 
Financial liabilities that are not held-for-trading and are not designated as at FVTPL are measured at 
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. The carrying amounts of financial liabilities 
that are subsequently measured at amortised cost are determined based on the effective profit rate method. 
The Groups financial liabilities at amortised cost include the wakala financing and payable and other 
liabilities.   
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 
4.6 Impairment of financial assets 
 
Financial assets that are measured at amortised cost are assessed for impairment at each reporting date.  
 
The Group applies a three-stage approach to measure allowance for credit losses, using an expected credit 
loss approach as required under IFRS 9, for the following categories of financial instruments that are not 
measured at FVTPL: 
 
 Financial assets that are financing instruments and balances dues from banks;  
 Other assets; and  
 Off-balance sheet instruments issued.  
 
Financial assets migrate through three stages based on the change in credit risk since initial recognition. 
 
No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.6 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
Excepted credit loss impairment model 
 
The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) model contains a three stage approach which is based on the change in 
credit quality of financial assets since initial recognition. Expected credit losses reflect the present value of 
all cash shortfalls related to default events either (i) over the following twelve months or (ii) over the 
expected life of a financial instrument depending on credit deterioration from inception. 
 
 Under Stage 1, where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 

an amount equal to 12 months ECL will be recorded. The 12 months ECL is calculated as the portion 
of life time ECL that represents the ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that 
are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. The Group calculates the 12 months ECL 
allowance based on the expectation of a default occurring in the 12 months following the reporting 
date. These expected 12 month default probabilities are applied to a forecast EAD and multiplied by 
the expected LGD and discounted by an approximation to the original effective profit rate.  

 Under Stage 2, where there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but 
the financial instruments are not considered credit impaired, an amount equal to the default probability 
weighted lifetime ECL will be recorded. The PD and LGD are estimated over the lifetime of the 
instrument and the expected cash shortfalls are discounted by an approximation to the original effective 
profit rate.  

 Under the Stage 3, where there is objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date these financial 
instruments will be classified as credit impaired and an amount equal to the lifetime ECL will be 
recorded for the financial assets, with the PD set at 100%. 

 
When estimating ECL for undrawn commitments, the Group estimates the expected portion of the 
commitment that will be drawn down over its expected life. The ECL is then based on the present value of 
the expected shortfalls in cash flows if the financing is drawn down. The expected cash shortfalls are 
discounted at an approximation to the expected effective profit rate on the financing. 
 
The ECL model is forward looking and requires the use of reasonable and supportable forecasts of future 
economic conditions in the determination of significant increases in credit risk and measurement of ECL. 
 
COVID-19 and Expected Credit Loss (ECL) 
 

The global outbreak of novel coronavirus (COVID 19) during early 2020 is causing disruptions in normal 
lives and businesses in many ways. Global economy and banking systems have also been impacted 
significantly, both from business and accounting and reporting perspective.  Governments and banks in 
many jurisdictions have introduced extraordinary measures to alleviate the financial and economic impact 
of COVID-19. The relief measures include a range of different payment moratoriums to customer, liquidity 
support and capital relief by regulators.   
 
The Group has considered the extraordinary conditions and environment due to COVID 19 for determining 
ECL requirements as on the reporting date, as applicable.  The Group has also considered guidelines issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) on 27 March 2020. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.6 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
Measurement of ECL 
 
The Group calculates ECLs based on probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash 
shortfalls, discounted at an approximation to the effective profit rate. A cash shortfall is the difference 
between the cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that 
the Group expects to receive. IFRS 9 considers the calculation of ECL by multiplying the Probability of 
default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) and Exposure at Default (EAD). The Group has developed 
methodologies and models taking into account the relative size, quality and complexity of the portfolios. 
 
These parameters are generally derived from internally developed statistical models and other historical 
data and are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information. 
 
Details of these statistical parameters/inputs are as follows:  
 
 The probability of default (PD) is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon; 
 The exposure at default (EAD) is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into 

account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date; and  
 
The loss given default (LGD) is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given 
time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the Group would 
expect to receive, including from the realization of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of 
the EAD. 
 
Macroeconomic factors, forward looking information and multiple scenarios 
 
IFRS 9 requires an unbiased and probability weighted estimate of credit losses by evaluating a range of 
possible outcomes that incorporates forecasts of future economic conditions.  
 
When estimating the ECLs, the Group considers three scenarios (a base case, an upside and a downside) 
with a weightage of 40%, 30% and 30% respectively. Each of these is associated with different PDs. When 
relevant, the assessment of multiple scenarios also incorporates how defaulted financing are expected to be 
recovered, including the probability that the financing will cure and the value of collateral or the amount 
that might be received for selling the asset. 
 
In its ECL models, the Group relies on a broad range of forward looking information as economic inputs, 
such as Real house prices – Abu Dhabi and Dubai, Money supply, Effective exchange rate – real broad 
index, General government finance – expenditure, Commodity prices, Consumer price index, National 
accounts – compensation of employees and National accounts – real import of goods and services 
 
Macroeconomic factors and forward looking information are required to be incorporated into the 
measurement of ECL as well as the determination of whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since origination. Measurement of ECLs at each reporting period should reflect reasonable and 
supportable information at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future 
economic conditions. The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all 
characteristics of the market at the date of the financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments 
or overlays are occasionally made as temporary adjustments when such differences are significantly 
material. 
  

20



Tamweel P.S.C.   
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2020  
 

21 
 
 

 
4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.6 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
Assessment of significant increase in credit risk 
 
The assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is done on a relative basis. To assess whether the 
credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since origination, the Group compares the risk of 
default occurring over the expected life of the financial assets at the reporting date to the corresponding 
risk of default at origination, using key risk indicators that are used in the Group’s existing risk management 
processes. At each reporting date, the assessment of a change in credit risk will be individually assessed for 
those considered individually significant and at the segment level for retail exposures. 
 
The group of assets are moved from stage 1 to stage 2 if:  
 
 the probability of default changes beyond the Group’s established threshold related to the initial 

recognition; 
 an instrument is past due beyond 30 days; and 
 an instrument’s credit risk is considered higher based on qualitative criteria of the Group.  
 
The instruments moved to stage 2 from stage 1 remain in the stage until they perform for a sustained period 
as per Group’s policy.  
 
Movement from stage 2 to stage 3 are based on whether the financial assets are credit impaired at the 
reporting date.    
 
Experienced credit judgement 
 
The Group’s ECL allowance methodology requires the use of experienced credit judgement to incorporate 
the estimated impact of factors not captured in the modelled ECL results, in all reporting periods. 
 
When measuring ECL, the Group considers the maximum contractual period over which the Group is 
exposed to credit risk. All contractual terms are considered when determining the expected life, including 
prepayment options and extension and rollover options. 
 
Default definition followed by the Group for impairment assessment remains in line with the guidelines of 
IFRS 9, without any recourse to the assumptions, and consistent with regulatory requirements. The policy 
on the write-off of financing transactions remains unchanged. 
 
Expected life 
 
When measuring expected credit loss, the Group considers the maximum contractual period over which the 
Group is exposed to credit risk. All contractual terms are considered when determining the expected life, 
including prepayment, and extension and rollover options. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.6 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
Definition of default 
 
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when: 
 
 it is established that due to financial or non-financial reasons the customer is unlikely to pay its credit 

obligations to the Group in full without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if 
any is held); or 

 the customer is past due 90 days or more on any material credit obligation to the Group. 
 In assessing whether a customer is in default, the Group considers indicators that are: 

(i) qualitative - e.g. material breaches of covenant; 
(ii) quantitative - e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same issuer to 

the Group; and 
(iii) based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources. 

 
Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary 
over time to reflect changes in circumstances 
 
Renegotiated financing facilities 
 
The Group sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of financing as a response 
to the customer’s difficulties, rather than taking possession or to otherwise enforce collection of collateral. 
The Group considers a financing forborne when such concessions or modifications are provided as a result 
of the customer’s present or expected financial difficulties and the Group would not have agreed to them 
if the customer had been financially healthy. Indicators of financial difficulties include defaults on 
covenants or that the finance may not be in a position to honour contractual commitments. Forbearance 
may involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new financing conditions. Once 
the terms have been renegotiated, any impairment is measured using the original effective profit rate as 
calculated before the modification of terms. It is the Group’s policy to monitor forborne financing to help 
ensure that future payments continue to be likely to occur. Classification between Stage 2 and Stage 3 are 
determined on a case-by-case basis. If these procedures identify a loss in relation to a financing, it is 
disclosed and managed as an impaired Stage 3 forborne asset until it is collected or written off. 
 
When the financing has been renegotiated or modified but not derecognised, the Group also reassesses 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. The Group also considers whether the assets 
should be classified as Stage 3. Once an asset has been classified as forborne, it will remain forborne for 
a minimum 12-month probation period. In order for the financing to be reclassified out of the forborne 
category, the customer has to meet all of the following criteria: 
 
 All of its facilities has to be considered performing; 
 The probation period of one year has passed from the date the forborne contract was considered 

performing; and 
 Regular payments of more than an insignificant amount of principal or profit have been made during 

the probation period.   
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.7 Investment properties 
 
Properties held for rental or capital appreciation purposes as well as those held for undetermined future use 
are classified as investment properties. Investment properties are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation on investment in buildings is charged 
on a straight-line basis over 40 years. 
 
Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment 
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. 
Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal. 
 
Transfers are made to investment properties when, and only when there is change in use evidenced by 
ending of owner-occupation, commencement of an operating lease to another party or ending of 
construction or development. Transfers are made from investment properties when, and only when, there 
is change in used evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation or commencement of development 
with a view to sale. 
 
4.8 Property and equipment 
 
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment in value, if any. 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of 20 years for the building. 
The carrying value of property and equipment is reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.  If any such indication exists and where 
the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable 
amount, being the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 
 
Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of fixed assets that is accounted for separately is 
capitalised and the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written off.  Other subsequent 
expenditure is capitalised only when it increases future economic benefits of the related item of fixed assets. 
All other expenditure is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as the expense 
is incurred. 
 
4.9 Repossessed properties 
 
In certain circumstances, property is repossessed following the foreclosure on financing that are in default. 
Repossessed properties are initially recognised at fair value and included within ‘Investment properties’. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.10 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 
 
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If 
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the assets is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are calculated to their present value using a profit rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, such that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 
4.11 Zakat  
 
Zakat is computed as per the Articles and Memorandum of Association of the Company and its subsidiaries 
and is approved by the Internal Sharia Supervision Committee of the respective entities on the following 
basis: 
 
 The portion of zakat payable by the Group on its shareholders’ behalf is computed at 2.5775% of the 

aggregate of general and legal reserves, retained earnings, other reserves and provision for staff 
gratuity.  The parent company computes and pays Zakat on its consolidated financial position 
including its equity in Tamweel P.S.C. Accordingly no Zakat is considered in these consolidated 
financial statements in respect of shareholders’ equity pertaining to parent company. 

 Zakat is disbursed by a committee appointed by the Board of Directors and operating as per the by-
law set by the Board and policies approved by the Internal Sharia Supervisory Committee. 

 Zakat on the paid up capital is not included in the Zakat computations and is payable by the 
shareholders personally. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.12 Provisions  
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. 
 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from 
a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
 
Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous 
contract is considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting 
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from the contract. 
 

4.13 Employees’ end-of-service benefits 
 
Pension and national insurance contributions for the U.A.E. citizens are made by the Group in accordance 
with Federal Law No. 2 of 2000. 
 
The Group provides end of service benefits for its expatriate employees. Provision for employees’ end of 
service indemnity is made in accordance with the Group’s policy which meets the requirements of U.A.E. 
labour laws, and is based on current remuneration and cumulative years of service at the reporting date. 
 
4.14 Foreign currencies 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions.   
 
The fair value of financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency 
and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. The foreign exchange component forms 
part of its fair value gain or loss. For financial assets measured at FVTPL, the foreign exchange component 
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. For financial assets measured at FVTOCI any 
foreign exchange component is recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 
For foreign currency denominated financial instruments measured at amortised cost, the foreign exchange 
gains and losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the asset and are recognised in other income 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  
 
As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into Arab Emirates 
Dirhams at the rate of exchange ruling at the consolidated statement of financial position date and, their 
consolidated statement of comprehensive incomes are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.  
The exchange differences arising on the translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity. 
On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that 
particular entity is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.15 Leases 
 
The Group initially measures the right-of-use asset at cost and subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The 
Group initially measures the lease liability at the present value of the future lease payments discounted 
using the discount rate implicit in the lease. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for profit and lease 
payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. 
 
The Group has elected to apply the expedient allowed by IFRS 16 on its general requirements to short-term 
leases (i.e. one that does not include a purchase option and has a lease term at commencement date of 12 
months or less) and leases of low value assets. For this the Group recognises the lease payments associated 
with those leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term or another systematic basis if 
that basis is representative of the pattern of the lessee’s benefits, similar to the current accounting for 
operating leases. 
 
4.16 Fair values 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly 
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a 
liability, the Group takes into account characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would 
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. 
 
For investments actively traded in organised financial markets, fair value is determined by reference to 
quoted market prices at the close of business on the consolidated statement of financial position date. Bid 
prices are used for assets and offer prices are used for liabilities. 
 
For unquoted securities fair value is determined by reference to brokers’ quotes, recent transaction(s), the 
market value of similar securities, or based on the expected cash flows calculated at current rates applicable 
for items with similar terms and risk characteristics. 
 
For investments in properties, fair value is determined periodically on the basis of independent professional 
valuations. 
 
The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in making the measurements: 
 
Level 1: Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments. 
 
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly (i.e. as 
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted 
market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments 
in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs 
are directly or indirectly observable from market data. 
 
Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the valuation 
technique includes inputs that are not observable and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on 
the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for 
similar instruments for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumption are required to reflect 
differences between the instruments. 
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4.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.17 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated 
statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts 
and the Group intends to settle on a net basis. 
 
5. Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation of uncertainty  
 
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 4, the management is 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. 
 
Significant areas where management has used estimates, assumptions or exercised judgements are as 
follows: 
 
5.1 Significant increase in credit risk 
 
As explained in note 4.6, ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for Stage 1 assets, or 
lifetime ECL assets for Stage 2 or Stage 3 assets. An asset moves to Stage 2 when its credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant 
increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group 
takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking information. 
 
5.2 Establishing groups of assets with similar credit risk characteristics 
 
When ECLs are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared 
risk characteristics. The Group monitors the appropriateness of the credit risk characteristics on an ongoing 
basis to assess whether they continue to be similar. This is required in order to ensure that should credit risk 
characteristics change there is appropriate re-segmentation of the assets. This may result in new portfolios 
being created or assets moving to an existing portfolio that better reflects the similar credit risk 
characteristics of that group of assets.  
 
5.3 Models and assumptions used 
 
The Group uses various models and assumptions in measuring fair value of financial assets as well as in 
estimating ECL. Judgment is applied in identifying the most appropriate model for each type of asset, as 
well as for determining the assumptions used in these models, including assumptions that relate to key 
drivers of credit risk. See note 4.6 for more details on ECL. 
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5. Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation of uncertainty (continued) 
 
5.4 Classification of financial assets 
 
The classification and measurement of the financial assets depend on the management business model for 
managing its financial assets and on the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets assessed. 
Management is satisfied that the Group’s financial assets are appropriately classified and measured.  
 
Financial assets that are measured at amortised cost are those assets that are held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold asset in order to collect contractual cash flow and the contractual terms gives 
rise on specified dates to cash flow that are solely payments of principal and profit. 
 
All other investments are classified as carried at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

5.5 Valuation of investment properties 
 
The Group determines the fair value of its investment properties on the basis of market valuations prepared 
by independent professional valuers. The valuations are carried out on assumptions which are based on the 
market conditions existing at the reporting date. Therefore, any future change in the market conditions can 
have an impact on the fair values.  
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6. Bank balances and cash  
 
  31 December  31 December 
  2020 2019 
  AED’000 AED’000 
    

Bank balances   268,645 151,714 
Cash in hand   - 10 
  –––––––– –––––––– 

Total  268,645 151,724 
  ======= ======= 

 
Bank balances are held with banks within the U.A.E. and are profit generating at an average profit rate of 
0.41% (31 December 2019: 1.11%). 
 
For the purpose of condensed consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the 
following: 
 
  31 December  31 December 
  2020 2019 
  AED’000 AED’000 
    
Bank balances and cash  268,645 151,724 
Less: Deposits with original maturity over three months  (66,114) (66,114) 
  –––––––– –––––––– 

Cash and cash equivalents  202,531 85,610 
  ======= ======= 

 
 
7.  Islamic financing and investing assets, net  
 
  31 December  31 December 
  2020 2019 
 Note AED’000 AED’000 

    
Ijara  1,752,694 2,106,577 
Istina’a and forward Ijara  209,307 214,120 
  –––––––––– –––––––––– 

Total Islamic financing and investing assets  1,962,001 2,320,697 
    

Less: provisions for impairment  7.2 (373,740) (382,842) 
  –––––––––– –––––––––– 

Total Islamic financing and investing assets, net   1,588,261 1,937,855 
  ========= ========= 

 
All Islamic financing and investing assets financed by the Group are within the United Arab Emirates. 
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7.1 Carrying value of exposure and expected credit loss by stage 
 

 As at 31 December 2020 As at 31 December 2019 
  

Gross book 
value 

 
Expected 

credit loss 

 
Gross book 

value 

 
Expected 

credit loss 
 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 
     
Stage 1  1,191,158 107,204 1,466,079 137,101 
Stage 2 431,477 81,986 460,956 52,089 
Stage 3 339,366 184,550 393,662 193,652 

 ––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– 
Total  1,962,001 373,740 2,320,697 382,842 

 ======== ========= ========= ======== 
 
7.2 Provision for impairment 
 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Note AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

      
Balance at 1 January 2020  137,101 52,089 193,652 382,842 
Impairment charge during the year 21 - - 70,116 70,116 
Transfer to other stage  (29,897) 29,897 - - 
Write off  - - (79,218) (79,218) 
  ––––––– ––––––– –––––––– ––––––– 
Balance at 31 December 2020  107,204 81,986 184,550 373,740 
  ======= ======= ======== ======= 
 

Balance at 1 January 2019  155,602 52,742 211,575 419,919 
Impairment charge during the year 21 (18,501) (653) 71,362 52,208 
Write off  - - (89,285) (89,285) 
  ––––––– ––––––– –––––––– ––––––– 
Balance at 31 December 2019  137,101 52,089 193,652 382,842 
  ======= ======= ======== ======= 
 

The impairment allowance as per IFRS 9 for all financial assets of the Group meets the regulatory provision 
requirements of the Central Bank of the UAE. Therefore, no regulatory credit risk reserve has been 
accounted for.  
 
Collateral  
 
The Group enters into collateral arrangements with counter parties in appropriate circumstances to limit 
credit exposure. Under Ijara financing structure, the legal ownership of the finance property is maintained 
with the Group until the customer (lessee) has fulfilled all his obligations under the relevant Ijara 
agreement. 
 
The fair value of the collaterals that the Group holds relating to facilities individually determined to be 
impaired at 31 December 2020 amounts to AED 273 million (2019: AED 329 million). 
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8. Other investments carried at FVTOCI 
 31 December 31 December 
 2020 2019 
 AED’000 AED’000 

Investments measured at FVTOCI   
Balance at the beginning of the year 65,911 59,810 
Change in fair value (10,766) 6,101 
 -------------------- -------------------- 

Balance at the end of the year 55,145 65,911 
 ========= ========= 

 

Other investments represents primarily the investment in shares of the parent company and are included in 
level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.  
 
9. Investment properties 
 
 Land 

Other  
real estate Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
Cost     
At 1 January 2020 367,446 701,279 1,068,725 
Additions - 55,445 55,445 
 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 
At 31 December 2020 367,446 756,724 1,124,170 
 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment    
At 1 January 2020 92,966 96,256 189,222 
Charge for the year - 17,697 17,697 
Impairment  10,703 81,297 92,000  

------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 
At 31 December 2020 103,669 195,250 298,919  

------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 
Carrying amount    
At 31 December 2020 263,777 561,474 825,251 
 ======== ======== ======== 
 
Cost     
At 1 January 2019 367,446 636,084 1,003,530 
Additions - 65,195 65,195 
 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 
At 31 December 2019 367,446 701,279 1,068,725 
 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment    
At 1 January 2019 75,888 78,103 153,991 
Charge for the year - 16,076 16,076 
Impairment  17,078 2,077 19,155  

------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 
At 31 December 2019 92,966 96,256 189,222  

------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 
Carrying amount    
At 31 December 2019 274,480 605,023 879,503 
 ======== ======== ======== 
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9. Investment properties (continued) 
 
All the investment properties held by the Group are located within the United Arab Emirates. During the 
year ended 31 December 2020, the Group repossessed properties of AED 55.4 million  
(2019: AED 65.1 million) through foreclosure.   
 
The valuations are carried out by professional valuator not related to the Group who hold recognised and 
relevant professional qualifications and have recent experience in the location and category of the 
investment property being valued. The valuations were based on comparable transaction method that is 
made on the principle that the value of one property may be derived by comparing it with the prices 
achieved from transactions in similar properties. 
 
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2020 is AED 845 million  
(2019: AED 960 million). The fair value is mainly based on unobservable market inputs (i.e. level 3). 
 
10. Advances, prepayments and other receivables 
 
 

 2020 2019 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Administration fee receivable 10,011 10,798 
Portfolio management fee receivable  5,400 5,400 
Commission receivable 4,322 4,322 
Other  68,761 53,500 
 ----------------- ----------------- 
 88,494 74,020 
 ======= ======= 
 
The receivables are stated net of provision of AED 3.2 million (2019: AED 3.3 million). 
 
11. Property and equipment 
  2020 2019 
  AED’000 AED’000 
    
Cost    
Balance at 1 January  21,732 21,732 
Disposal  (4,124) - 
  --------------- --------------- 
Balance at 31 December   17,608 21,732 
  ====== ====== 
    
Accumulated depreciation    
Balance at 1 January  10,472 9,403 
Charge for the year  880 1,069 
Disposal  (2,034) - 
  --------------- --------------- 
Balance at 31 December   9,318 10,472 
  ====== ====== 
    
Carrying value at 31 December   8,290 11,260 
  ====== ====== 
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12. Zakat 
 
As at 31 December 2020 an amount of AED 3.8 million (2019: AED 3.8 million) has been accrued as zakat 
liability.  

13. Accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities 
 
  2020 2019 
 Note AED’000 AED’000 
    
Profit payable on Islamic financing obligations  - 451 
Accounts payable  14,049 12,335 
Unclaimed dividends   15,298 15,298 
Employees’ end of service benefits 13.1 11,744 11,868 
Accrual and other liabilities  36,847 26,829 
  ----------------- ----------------- 
  77,938 66,781 
  ======= ======= 
 
13.1 Employee end of service benefits 
 
 2020 2019 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Balance at beginning of the year 11,868 10,623 
Charge for the year 1,875 2,702 
Paid during the year (1,999) (1,457) 
 ----------------- ----------------- 
 11,744 11,868 
 ======= ======= 
 
14. Islamic financing obligations 
 
  2020 2019 
  AED’000 AED’000 
    

Wakala  - 185,000 
  ------------------- ------------------- 

Total  - 185,000 
  ======== ======== 

The effective average profit rate on these Wakalas was 5.15% per annum. 
 
15. Share capital 
 
As at 31 December 2020, 1,000,000,000 authorised ordinary shares of AED 1 each  
(31 December 2019: 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of AED 1 each) were fully issued and paid up. 
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16. Statutory reserve 
 
As required by the Commercial Companies Law and the Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of the 
profit for the year is transferred to statutory reserve. The Company may resolve to discontinue such annual 
transfers when the reserve totals 50% of paid up share capital. This reserve is not available for distribution 
except in the circumstances as stipulated by U.A.E. Commercial Companies Law. 
  
17. General reserve 
 

As per the Company’s Articles of Association, deductions for the general reserve shall stop by resolution 
of an Ordinary General Assembly upon the recommendation of the Board of Directors when this reserve 
reaches 50% of the paid up capital of the Company. The Board of Directors have not proposed any transfer 
to General Reserve as the reserve is in excess of the 50% of the paid up capital of the Company. This 
reserve shall be utilised for the purpose determined by the General Assembly at an ordinary meeting upon 
the recommendation of the Board of Directors. 
 
18. Special reserve  
 

The special reserve, which was created in accordance with the recommendations of the U.A.E. Central 
Bank, is not available for distribution. 
 
19. Income from Islamic financing and investing assets 
 
 

  2020 2019 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Income from Islamic financing and investing assets 94,512 128,674 
Processing and other fee income 4,949 7,141 
 ----------------- ----------------- 

 99,461 135,815 
 ======= ======= 
20. Other income  
 
 2020 2019 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Portfolio management fee 21,600 21,600 
Rental income from investment properties 24,230 27,592 
Others 13,106 193,398 
 ----------------- ----------------- 

 58,936 242,590 
 ======= ======= 
Other income for year ended 31 December 2019 included an amount of AED 170.9 million on account of 
favourable judgement in a court case.  
 
21. Impairment charges, net 
 

   2020 2019 
 Note AED’000 AED’000 
    
Charge for Islamic financing and investing assets, net 7.2 70,116 52,208 
Charge on investment properties  92,000 19,154 
  -------------- -------------- 

  162,116 71,362 
  ====== ====== 
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22. Commitments 
 
Irrevocable commitment to extend credit as of 31 December 2020 is AED 135.1 million  
(31 December 2019: AED 141.1 million). 
 
23. Contingencies 
 
At the reporting date, the Group is in legal proceedings against certain customers in the UAE to recover 
AED 6.7 million (31 December 2019: AED 6.4 million). These proceedings are in various stages in the 
courts and based on legal advice, the management of the Group is contesting the legal cases and is pursuing 
the full recovery of the outstanding balances. Accordingly, no provision for litigation has been made in 
these consolidated financial statements. 
 
24 Risk management 
 
Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities, but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, 
measurement, mitigation and monitoring and by subjecting risk to limits and other controls. As Tamweel 
is a critical component of its parent’s home finance department, overall risk management activities are 
carried out at parent level through its own corporate governance and risk management structure. This 
process of risk management is critical to Group’s continuing profitability and sustainability. The Group is 
exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, the latter being subdivided into trading and non-trading 
risks. It is also subject to operational risks. 
 
The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the environment, 
technology and industry. Those risks are monitored through the Group’s strategic planning process. 
 
The major risks to which the Group is exposed in conducting its business and operations, and the means 
and organisational structure it employs in seeking to manage them strategically in its attempt to build 
stakeholder’s value are outlined below. 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving the risk 
strategies and policies. 
 
As detailed below, the Board of Directors of the Company is supported by the Board Risk Management 
Committee, Risk Management Committee, Risk Management Department, Assets and Liabilities 
Management Committee and Internal Audit department of its parent, for identifying, monitoring and 
managing risks. 
 
Board Risk Management Committee 
 
The Board Risk Management Committee has the overall responsibility for the development of the risk 
strategies, frameworks, policies and limits, and for recommending these strategies and policies to the Board 
of Directors. It is responsible for the fundamental risk issues, and manages and monitors relevant risk 
decisions. 
 
Risk Management Committee 
 
The day-to-day management of risk has been delegated to Risk Management Committee. 
 
The Risk Management Committee has the overall responsibility to support the Board Risk Management 
Committee for the development and formulation of the risk strategy, frameworks, policies and limits. It is 
responsible for ensuring the compliance with all risk limits, monitoring risk exposures and implementing 
the regulatory guidelines issued by the regulatory bodies (e.g. The Central Bank of the U.A.E.). 
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24. Risk management (continued) 
 

Risk Management Department 
 

The Risk Management Department is responsible for implementing and maintaining risk related procedures 
to ensure risk remains within the acceptable range as approved by the Board Risk Management Committee 
and the Board of Directors. The department is responsible for credit approval, credit administration, 
portfolio management, credit risk, market risk, operational risk and overall risk control. 
 
Internal Audit Department 
 
Risk management processes throughout the Group are audited periodically by the Group Internal Audit 
Department which examines both the adequacy of the procedures and the Group’s compliance with the 
procedures. Internal Audit Department comments on the results of their assessments with management, and 
reports its findings and recommendations to the Board Audit Committee. 
 
 Internal Sharia Audit Department 
 
Compliance to Sharia and the Fatawa issued by the ISSC of the Group in all the matters of the Group 
including the execution of the transactions are audited periodically by the Internal Sharia Audit Department 
which examines the adequacy of the procedures and the Group’s compliance with the Fatawa and guidance 
of the ISSC. Internal Sharia Audit Department discusses the findings of their assessments with the 
management and submits the findings along with responses of the relevant departments and its 
recommendations to the ISSC then to the Board Audit Committee. 
 

 Sharia Compliance Unit 
 
Moreover, there is a Sharia Compliance Unit under Internal Sharia Control Department of the 
Group which constantly monitors Sharia Risk and Sharia compliance level of the Group and 
submits its quarterly reports to the ISSC and the management. 
 

Asset and Liability Committee 
 

Asset and Liability Management Committee (“ALCO”) is responsible for managing the Group’s assets and 
liabilities and the overall financial structure. It is also primarily responsible for the funding and liquidity 
risks of the Group. 
 

The ALCO monitors the asset performance and financial position of the Group. The ALCO is also 
responsible for establishing risk management standards and methodologies, monitoring liquidity and 
alternative funding sources, reviewing market rate risk and regulatory capital levels and determining pricing 
parameters and Tamweel’s base profit rate. 
 

Sharia Supervisory Board 
 

In compliance with Tamweel’s memorandum and Articles of Association, Tamweel has an Internal Sharia 
Supervision Committee which oversees all areas of operation in order to ensure that Tamweel’s business 
activities are in accordance with Sharia principles. The Internal Sharia Supervision Committee is 
responsible to review the operational, financing and investing activities of the Group ensuring their 
alignment and compliance with the principles of Sharia as set out in the Sharia Standards issued by 
Accounting & Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) and Higher Sharia 
Authority of UAECB. And interpreted by Internal Sharia Supervision Committee. Being a supervisory 
board they are also required to audit the business activities undertaken through the Internal Sharia Audit 
Department and present an independent report to the shareholders with regard to the implementation of the 
principles of Sharia in the Group’s overall activities. 
 

For all levels throughout the Group, specifically tailored risk reports are prepared and distributed in order 
to ensure that all business divisions have access to extensive and up-to-date information necessary for their 
proper management and monitoring of risks inherent in the activities. 
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24. Risk management (continued) 
 
Types of Risk the Group is subject to: 
 
Concentration risk 
 
Concentration risk arises when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or 
activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to 
meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. 
Concentration risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments affecting 
a particular nationality, industry or geographical location. 
 
In order to avoid excessive concentration of risk, the Group’s policies and procedures include specific 
guidelines to maintain a diversified portfolio. This is further enforced by the Credit Committee’s oversight. 
Identified concentration of credit risks are controlled and managed accordingly.   
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty will fail to meet a commitment, resulting in financial 
loss to the Group. Such risk stems mainly from day to day Islamic financing activities undertaken by the 
Group.  Credit risk is actively monitored in accordance with the credit policies which clearly define 
delegated financing authorities, credit standards and procedures.    
 
The Group attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, maintaining credit limits and 
limiting transactions with specific counterparties. The Group has built and maintains a sound credit 
portfolio within the guidelines of the Board approved credit policy. The Group has an established risk 
management process encompassing of credit approvals, control of exposures, credit policy direction to 
business unit, well-designed credit appraisals, review of exposures both on an individual and a portfolio 
basis, and incorporation of robust problem credit management procedures. Special attention is directed 
towards the management of past-due financing assets through a dedicated Collection Team. 
 
The Group enters in collateral arrangements with counterparties in appropriate circumstances to limit credit 
exposure. With a relatively dominant Ijara financing structure, the ownership of the financed property is 
maintained with the Group until the customer (lessee) has fulfilled all his obligations under the relevant 
Ijara. 
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24. Risk management (continued) 
 
Credit risk (continued) 
 
Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit 
enhancements 
 
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated 
statement of financial position. The maximum exposure is shown gross. 
 

 Gross 
maximum 

exposure 

Gross  
maximum 
exposure 

 2020 2019 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Bank balances 268,645 151,714 
Islamic financing and investing assets 1,962,001 2,320,697 
Advances and other receivables  91,184 76,709 
 ──────── ──────── 
Total 2,321,830 2,549,120 
 ======== ======== 
   
Irrevocable commitments to extend credit 135,124 141,122 
 ======== ======== 

 
The Group’s financial assets, before taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements 
are analysed by business segment in Note 25. 
 

The table below shows the credit quality by class of financial asset. 

At 31 December 2020 

 
 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
     

Bank balances 268,645 - - 268,645 
Islamic financing and investing assets        1,191,158 431,477 339,366 1,962,001 
Advances and other receivables 87,887 - 3,297 91,184 

 ----------------- ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 
 1,547,690 431,477 342,663 2,321,830 
 ======= ======== ======== ======== 
     

At 31 December 2019     
Bank balances 151,714 - - 151,714 
Islamic financing and investing assets 1,466,079 460,956 393,662 2,320,697 
Advances and other receivables 73,412 - 3,297 76,709 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 
 1,691,205 460,956 396,959 2,549,120 
 ======== ======== ======== ======== 
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24. Risk management (continued) 
 
Credit risk (continued) 
 
It is the Group’s policy to maintain accurate and consistent risk ratings across the credit portfolio. This 
facilitates focused management of the applicable risks and the comparison of credit exposures across all 
lines of business, geographic regions and products. The rating system is supported by a variety of financial 
analytics, combined with processed market information to provide the main inputs for the measurement of 
counterparty risk. All internal risk ratings are tailored to the various categories and are derived in 
accordance with the Group’s rating policy. The attributable risk ratings are assessed and updated regularly.  
 
Collateral and other credit enhancements  
 
The finance provided by the Group is asset backed in accordance with the principles of Sharia. Properties 
are funded based on “Group’s Appraised Value”. In the case of new properties, the appraised value is 
similar to the developers’ per square footage rate further assessed by independent valuers. However, in 
some cases the Group might have lower rates than the developers based on the Group’s view of the 
property. In case of older properties the appraised value is determined by the Credit Department. These 
valuations are based on the valuation report from valuers, whenever required, and the property prices 
witnessed in the Group past funding transactions. 
 
The fair value of the asset collaterals is estimated to be approximately AED 2.9 billion as at  
31 December 2020 (2019: AED 3.7 billion). 
 
Property takaful / Islamic insurance is mandatory and the property is insured against all normal risks for 
the value stated in the sale agreement, or the valuation amount given by the surveyor, as the case maybe. 
The insured value is maintained at the original property value through the life of the finance.  
 
Profit rate risk 
 

Profit rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in profit rates will affect future profitability or the 
fair values of financial instruments.  In the Group’s consolidated financial statements, mainly two line 
items can lead to such exposure i.e. Islamic financing assets and Islamic financing obligations, as shown 
on the assets and liability sides respectively. The profit rate risk for the Group is minimal in the short term 
period. 
 

The profit rate for financing assets is a composition of EIBOR and internal spread which cannot be expected 
to fluctuate frequently based on EIBOR movement. The Group reviews the profit rate on a monthly basis 
during its ALCO meeting and, if required, recommends rate change based on market conditions and 
competition.  
 

The profit rate on Islamic financing obligations is contractually determined on contract initiation.  
 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in profit rates, with all 
other variables held constant, of the Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
 

 Increase in 
basis points 

 
2020 

 
2019 

  AED’000 AED’000 
    

Sensitivity of net profit income 50 bps 7,870 9,534 
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24. Risk management (continued) 
 
Currency risk 
 
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates.  
 
All assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2020 are denominated in the U.A.E, therefore, the Group is not 
exposed to any currency risk. 
 
Equity price risk 
 
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as the result of changes in the levels of 
equity indices and the value of individual stocks. The non-trading equity price risk exposure arises from 
the Group’s investment portfolio.  
 
The effect (as a result of a change in the fair value of equity instruments held at 31 December 2020 and  
31 December 2019) due to a reasonably possible change in equity indices, with all other variable held 
constant, is as follows:  
 

 Change in 
market indices 

Effect on other 
comprehensive income 

  2020 2019 
 % AED’000 AED’000 
    

Sensitivity of fair value + 5% 2,757 3,295 
 
 
Settlement risk  
 
Early settlement risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss because its counterparties settle 
earlier or later than expected. 
 
The Group does not have any significant early settlement risk as the amount recovered in case of early 
settlement is more than the fair value of the asset on settlement date, by adding a margin, and to recover 
amount on time and to avoid any delays. The collection team, supervised by the Credit committee monitors 
the customer receivable position on a daily basis. 
 

Operational risk  
 
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events. When 
controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory 
implications, or lead to financial loss. The Group cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but 
through a control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Group is able to 
manage the risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, access, authorisation and reconciliation 
procedures, staff education and assessment processes, including the use of internal audit. 
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24. Risk management (continued) 
 
Liquidity risk  
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may be unable to meet its funding requirements. This can be caused 
by political uncertainty, market disruptions or deterioration in the Group’s credit ratings.  
 
The Group monitors its liquidity position and funding strategies on an ongoing basis, but recognises that 
unexpected events, economic or market conditions, earnings problems or situations beyond its control 
could cause either a short or long-term liquidity crisis.  
 
The Group reviews the maturity gap analysis in its monthly ALCO meetings to identify potential liquidity 
risks in advance. The gap measures liquidity in five time buckets for each type of asset and liability for 
each period, as well as cumulatively.  
  
Non-Shariah Compliance Risk 
 
In compliance with the Sharia Governance Standard for Islamic Financial Institutions issued by the Higher 
Sharia Authority of the Central Bank of UAE (“HSA”) on 21 April 2020 (the “Standard”), the Group’s 
Board of Directors (“Board”) is ultimately responsible for the Groups’ compliance with Sharia principles. 
The ISSC is the highest authority in the Bank from a Sharia governance perspective. 
 
The Board is expected to be aware of Sharia non-compliance risk and its potential impact on the Group. 
The Board Risk, Compliance and Governance Committee (“BRCGC”) shall supervise and monitor 
management of Sharia non-compliance risk, and set controls in relation to this type of risk, in consultation 
with ISSC and through the Internal Sharia control Department of the Group. (“ISCD”). The BRCGC shall 
ensure the availability of an information system that enables the Bank to measure, assess and report Sharia 
non-compliance risk. Reports shall be provided in a timely manner to the Board and Senior Management, 
in formats suitable for their use and understanding.
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26. Capital management  
 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital 
ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value. 
 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 
conditions.  To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.  No changes were made in the objectives, 
policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.  Capital 
comprises share capital, statutory reserve, general reserve, special reserve and retained earnings.   
 
27. Related party transactions 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control or influence over the other party 
in making financial or operating decisions.  
 
The Group enters into transactions with shareholders, directors, key management personnel and their 
related concerns in the ordinary course of business at terms agreed between both parties. 
 
The significant balances and transactions of related parties included in the consolidated financial 
statements are as follows: 

 
 
2020 

Major 
shareholders 

Companies 
under common 

control 

 
 

Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
    
Bank balances and cash 268,645 - 268,645 
Other investments carried at FVTOCI 55,145 - 55,145 
Advances, prepayments and other receivables 5,592 2,955 8,547 
Income on mudarba deposits and wakala investments 858 - 858 
Portfolio management fee 21,600 - 21,600 
Other income 4,187 - 4,187 
General and administrative expenses - 11,479 11,479 
Depositors’/investors’ share of profit and related cost  2,391 - 2,391 

 
 
 
2019 

Major 
shareholders 

Companies 
under common 

control 

 
 

Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
    
Bank balances and cash 151,714 - 151,714 
Other investments carried at FVTOCI 65,911 - 65,911 
Advances, prepayments and other receivables 5,695 1,654 7,349 
Islamic financing obligations  185,000 - 185,000 
Depositors’/investors’ share of   profit payable 451 - 451 
Income on Islamic financing and investing assets 866 - 866 
Portfolio management fee 21,600 - 21,600 
Other income 4,187 - 4,187 
General and administrative expenses - 11,043 11,043 
Depositors’/investors’ share of profit and related cost 26,084 - 26,084 
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27. Related party transactions (continued) 
 
The compensation paid to key management personnel of the Group is as follows: 
  
 2020 2019 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Short term employee benefits 7,149 7,567 
Termination and other benefits 208 348 
 -------------- --------------- 
 7,357  7,915 
 ====== ====== 
 
28 Fair values of financial instruments 
 
(1)  Fair value of financial instruments measured at amortised cost 
 
The fair values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are not materially different from their 
carrying values.  
 
(2)  Fair value of financial instruments measured at fair value 
 
Fair value of other investment measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are based on 
quoted price in an active market and are included in the Level 1 of fair value hierarchy.  
 
29. Profit rate benchmark reforms 
 
On August 27, 2020, the IASB issued Profit Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2, Amendments to IFRS 9, 
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 (the “amendments”). The amendments introduce a practical 
expedient to account for a change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial 
instruments that are impacted by profit rate benchmark reform (“IBOR reform”). Under the practical 
expedient, the Group will not derecognize or adjust the carrying amount of financial instruments for 
modifications required by IBOR reform, but will instead update the effective profit rate to reflect the 
change in the profit rate benchmark. The practical expedient will be applied when the modification is 
required as a direct consequence of IBOR reform, and the new basis for determining the contractual cash 
flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis. The impact of the replacement of interbank offered 
rates (‘IBORs’) with alternative risk-free rates on the Group’s products and services remains a key area of 
focus. The Group has exposure to contracts referencing IBORs, such as Libor, extending past 2021 when 
it is likely that these will cease being published. 
 
Management has commenced a project to ensure the Group’s transition to new rate regimes after 2021 by 
considering changes in its products, services, systems and reporting.  The project is significant in terms of 
scale and complexity and will impact all facets of its operations from customer contracts and dealings to 
the risk management processes and earnings. The Group continues to engage with internal and external 
stakeholders to support an orderly transition and to mitigate the risks resulting from the transition. 
 
30.  Approval of the consolidated financial statements  
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue 
on 22 February 2021.   
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